# FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 28 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID PANGBURN

Appellant

vs.

CASE NO:81,650

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE.

## APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

RICHARD G. BARTMON, ESQ.
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
Law Offices of Bartmon & Bartmon
1515 N. Federal Hwy.
Suite #300
Boca Raton, FL 33432
(407) 392-7782
Fla. Bar No: 337791

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case arises from Appellant's convictions on two counts of first degree murder and one count of armed robbery and a sentence of death imposed by the Circuit Court in and for Broward County, the Honorable Paul Backman presiding. R,1902-1904,2008-2009,2021-2034.

In this Brief, DAVID PANGBURN will be referred to as "Appellant". The symbols "R" and "SR" will refer to the Record-on-Appeal and Supplemental Record on Appeal filed pursuant to this Court's March 8, 1994 Order. The symbol "ea" will mean "emphasis added". "A" will refer to the Appendix attached to this Brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 19, 1990 Appellant was charged by Indictment, along with his brother, Michael Pangburn of having committed the first-degree murders of Diane Matlawski (Count I) and Nancy Cole (Count II), "by asphyxiation", on or about November 20, 1989 in alleged violation of §782.04, Fla.Stat. R,1569-1570. Appellant was also charged in Count III of the Indictment with armed robbery with a deadly weapon, by taking Diane Matlawski's car and jewelry "by force" while possessing "a ligature and/or blunt instrument" under §812.13, Fla.Stat. R,1570.

After a jury trial was held from December 1 to December 10, 1992, R,1-1183; S.R., 1-622, the jury found Appellant guilty of all three counts as charged. R,1174-1175,1902-1904. After a penalty phase proceeding on February 1, 1993, R,1241-1471, the same jury recommended the death sentence by a 7-5 vote. R,1470-1471,1973-1980;1981. The Court held a sentencing hearing on March 12, 1993, R,1504-1527, after having allowed both parties to submit memoranda. R,1990-1992;1993-2006. On March 31, 1993, Judge Backman issued a written sentencing Order, imposing the death penalty on Appellant for the murder of Diane Matlawski. R,2021-2034. The Court also sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the murder of Nancy Cole, R, 2014, with the minimum mandatory of 25 years' imprisonment, to run consecutively to Count I. R,2015,2016. The Court further sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for armed robbery as a habitual violent felony offender, with a mandatory minimum 15 years

in prison, to run consecutive to the other counts. R,217-219. This was a departure sentence from a recommended range of 17-22 years on Count III, supported by stated reasons of the two capital convictions and Appellant's status as a "violent habitual offender". R,2020.

Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal from these convictions and sentences. R,2050.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 18, 1992, Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress Confession, Admissions and Statements. R,1805-1807. Appellant specifically sought exclusion of a statement he gave to Broward deputy sheriffs on July 11, 1990, as a violation of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights and further challenged its "free and voluntary" nature. R,1806.

On September 25, 1992, the Court held a suppression hearing. R,133-183. The evidence showed that Detective Dominick Gucciardo and then-Sergeant John Auer went to the jail at the South Florida Reception Center in Miami to interview Appellant on July 11, 1990. R,136,153-154. The interview was conducted in an office at the jail. R,137. The officers knew Appellant was already in custody, on escape charges unrelated to their murder investigation. R,138,144-145,169; A,2. Gucciardo testified he orally advised Appellant of his Miranda rights. R,138,139,154. Gucciardo acknowledged that Appellant stated he did not understand when

Gucciardo advised, as part of Miranda warnings, that Appellant had the right to stop questioning at any time and speak to an attorney, if he decided to begin to answer questions without one. After Miranda advisements were given, Appellant said nothing until Gucciardo told him that Appellant's brother, Michael Pangburn, had given a statement to police implicating Appellant in the murders of Diane Matlawski and Nancy Cole. R,140,141,150,151,155. the fact that the interview with Appellant lasted at least 15 minutes, R,161, and the police were at the jail for 35 minutes, R,137,143, no attempt was made to ask for or obtain Appellant's rights waiver Gucciardo signature on the form R,144,148,149,151,161. Furthermore, despite having a tape recorder with them, the police did not tape any part of the interview or Appellant's statement. R,143.

When told of his brother's accusations, Appellant sighed, lowered his head, stared beyond the officers, covered his face, and gave a statement. R,141,155,156. Appellant stated, among other things, that "I know what we were doing was wrong but he is my brother", that it was Michael's idea to kill the victims "for the car"; that Michael "should have kept his mouth shut", and that "if I tell you guys everything I'll be putting him and me in the electric chair for sure". R,141. Appellant made no further statement, R,142, and the jury learned he never admitted he "took part" in the murders. R,424,751. The Court took the issue under advisement, R,183, and later issued a form Order summarily denying Appellant's Motion. R,1831. Appellant renewed his Motion at

trial. R,370.

At trial, Elizabeth Hollenbaugh, Nancy Cole's mother, testified that her daughter was an "acquaintance" of Diane Matlawski. R,272. Hollenbaugh believed and had heard that Matlawski was "bad news", and did not like the friendship because Matlawski was "doing drugs" and would buy drugs. R,275,276. She further testified that Cole was living with a fiance who was involved with drugs. R,275. Evidence showed Matlawski spent 3 years in prison for drug trafficking and Cole had an arrest for delivery of marijuana. R,410.

The bodies of Ms. Matlawski and Ms. Cole were found on November 20, 1989 by a security guard, at the 63 mile marker of Alligator Alley, in the Everglades area. R,289,290. The bodies were under blankets, in the grass about 20 feet apart by a chainlink fence that bordered the road. R,290,298. The location was about 15 miles west of the east toll booth on Alligator Alley, bordering a 75 mile stretch from east to west. R.297. Exhibits #6 and 7, depicting the victims as they were found at the scene, were admitted among other photos. R,299,301. There was police testimony conceding that one person could have left the victims there, and that Michael Pangburn was strong enough to lift Ms. Matlawski over the side of the road. R,317,318. Crosse identified Michael Pangburn as having been with Diane Matlawski at a Ft. Lauderdale apartment on the afternoon of November 19, 1989. R,335-339.

On November 28, 1989, Ms. Matlawski's red 1986 Pontiac Trans-

Am was recovered from the Carriage Crossing Apartments, Pompano Beach, Florida. R,309. There was no physical evidence linking Appellant to this car, or the victims' bodies. R,413,561,562,608-610. A fingerprint matching Michael Pangburn was recovered from a newspaper bag found inside the car. R,397,610. Michael Blair, a resident at these apartments, identified Michael Pangburn as the individual he saw drive "a red Camaro" away from the apartment complex one early morning. R,427,430-433. His wife, Linda Blair noticed "a red Firebird" sometime in November, 1989 and picked out Appellant from a photo line-up as the man she saw wash the car. R,438-442. Mrs. Blair admitted in court that Appellant's height, hair color and hair style were much different than her prior description. R,443-444. Furthermore, Mrs. Blair saw this person previously without a shirt, yet never described any tatoos or abdominal scars, which Appellant revealed in court by removing his shirt with leave of Court. R,444-446. Mrs. Blair admitted Appellant's scars and tatoos were "significant". R,446. Detective Wiley later testified that Raphael and Susan Quilles, identified Michael Pangburn from a photo line-up as being at the apartment complex, not Appellant. R,518. Rita Flint, a nurse at North Broward Medical Center, testified that Michael Pangburn was admitted to the hospital at 12:33 P.M. on November 20, 1989, while she was on duty there. R,475,477-478. Michael had a diamond tennis and ruby bracelet on, R,480, which had previously been identified as belonging to Diane Matlawski. Flint told Michael to have these bracelets taken home for security reasons, and saw them on Appellant's hand after she made this statement. R,493.

Appellant's counsel objected to the admission of several photos, as being overly gruesome and prejudicial beyond any probative value. R,538-541,765-767. Appellant described some of the depictions in the photo, including a "ripped open skull" of Matlawski, R,765, decomposition of the face of Ms. Cole, R,765, and of Matlawski's "brain peeking through the skull". R,767. Court found these photos to be relevant as probative, R,542, and of assistance the medical examiner in his testimony. R,766,767,779, and admitted them. R,542,779.

Michael Pangburn's two taped statements given to police on July 11, 1990 were admitted without defense objections, S.R.,506-523;527-533. A video tape deposition of Alfred LeBlanc, S.R.,537-620, who was living with Michael Pangburn in a house owned by Scott Palmer, Michael's gay lover, R,697, was admitted into evidence as a court exhibit, R,768. The video tape was done on October 11, 1991, with defense and State counsel present, based on LeBlanc's terminal cancer. R,1579-1581. LeBlanc admitted to being on painkillers every four hours, R,579, and to drinking a "lot of alcohol" in November, 1989 because of personal problems. R,581. Further references to LeBlanc's videotape testimony will be made in the Argument part of this Brief.

Scott Palmer testified that when he went to his house where michael Pangburn lived on November 20, 1989, Appellant was there, and looked like he "had been and was still partying". R,704. Appellant acknowledged there had been a party the night before.

R,705. Appellant said nothing to Palmer about being involved in murders. R,719. Palmer testified that Michael Pangburn confided to him that Michael was the one who committed the murders. R,721.

Dr. Ronald Wright did the autopsy of the victims. Wright estimated the time of death within a range of 11:00 P.M. on November 19 to 1:00 A.M. on November 20, 1989. R,774,777,815. The medical examiner testified that Diane Matlawski lacerations to the back of her skull and a laceration behind the right ear, among other injuries. R,782. Matlawski had five skull fractures. R,786. The head blows were consistent to Wright with being done by a club, flashlight or baseball bat. R,783-784. Wright stated that either the head injuries or neck injuries would have caused death. R,786,787. Wright added that the neck ligature on Ms. Matlawski was not applied continuously. R,788. Dr. Wright admitted that the blows to her head would "maybe" have rendered Matlawski unconscious. R,789. He conceded that strangulation "eventually" causes a loss of unconsciousness, and that if she did not struggle, Matlawski would not have lost consciousness for one or two minutes. Wright found no defensive wounds on R,791. Matlawski, which he regarded as "unusual". R,792. Wright testified that Matlawski had a blood alcohol level of .08, R,794, and a small level of cocaine "consistent with recreational use" in her system. R,794. Wright further admitted that it was possible that one person could have killed Ms. Matlawski and Ms. Cole. R,811;813. The medical examiner conceded that the lack of scrape marks on Matlawski's body was consistent with dragging the body or

carrying the body as wrapped in a blanket or sleeping bag. R,809,810.

Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal, R,824-826,971-972, was denied by Judge Backman, R,828,972.

Thereafter, John Bates testified he loaned Appellant his red 1988 Camaro at least five to ten times. R,831,832,834,835. Carter described his car as the "Chevy equivalent" of a Pontiac Firebird. R,831.

John Carter testified that he was an inmate and trustee at the Broward County Jail in November, 1989, when Michael Pangburn was arrested for the murders. R,845. Carter related that Michael told him on or about July 12, or 13, 1990, that Appellant had "nothing to do" with the Matlawski/Cole murders, that Michael had lied because of police harassment, and that he planned to "straighten out" the situation "later". R,846,847.

Michael Pangburn testified for the defense. R,856-968. He confirmed telling John Carter that he did the murders and that Appellant had no involvement, and stated he had also said this to another inmate, R,870-872, as well as two other people. R,881. Among other things, Appellant's brother reiterated Appellant was not involved in the murders, and that Michael was responsible for the murders and the robbery. R,882-906,968. Michael stated that he met Matlawski at a bottle club the night of the murders, and smoked cocaine and "got high" with her. R,883-886. Michael testified that Matlawski called him names and insulted him and that he beat her with a baseball bat and strangled her because "she just

screwed up my high". R,886,887. Michael acknowledged hitting Matlawski in the head, including the side of the head, three to four times. R,927-930. Michael said Appellant was not there when he killed Matlawski, that he alone killed and disposed of Matlawski and Cole and that Appellant did not drive the car, participate in any robbery or know where the jewelry or car came from. R,888,890-894,898,900,901. Michael testified the murders happened "so quick", that the killings were done out of "anger" and were "sloppy" because of "drugs". R,904,905.

During deliberations, the jury first asked for "all photos", which were sent back to them. R,1158,1161,1900. The jury asked for "David's statement to police", then asked for this a second time when no response was initially given. R,1158,1900.

Prior to the penalty phase, defense counsel moved to exclude any evidence or argument relating to victim impact. R,1201. The Circuit Court denied this motion without prejudice, indicting that if the State argued victim impact beyond the facts and circumstance of the case, the Court would hear the motion at such time. R,1203. The Court agreed to instruct on the aggravating circumstance of "heinous, atrocious or cruel", over defense objections. R,1221. The defense clearly waived any reliance on the mitigating circumstance of lack of prior significant criminal history. R,1226.

Prior to the penalty phase testimony, defense counsel moved <u>in</u>

<u>limine</u> to exclude any reference to his prior burglaries, based on

his waiver of mitigation of no significant prior crimes. R,1260-

1262. The Court ruled that Appellant could be asked the basic impeachment question by the State about the number of times he had been convicted of a felony. R,1286-1288. The State and judge indicated that Appellant's testimony placed his character at issue, and could be impeached under §90.610, Fla.Stat. in the same way as any witness at a trial. R,1286-1288. On cross-examination of Appellant at sentencing, the first question asked revealed the fact of Appellant's 9 prior felony convictions for the jury. R,1287.

Judge Backman denied all defense special requested jury instructions. R,1274-1281;1943-1953; including those on the "heinous, atrocious or cruel" factor, R,1960, an instruction on separate consideration of "multiple murders", R,1953, and an instruction that the fact of conviction of first-degree murder was not itself a reason to recommend the death penalty. R,1956.

The State presented documentary evidence of an August 25, 1980 conviction for robbery as aggravation under §921.141(5)(b) Fla.Stat. (1992)("prior violent felony"). R,1291-1296. Officer Falk testified about the circumstances of the felony. R,1297-1302. The defense objected to any hearsay information from the officer, based on what other people told or reported to him. R,1298. The defense further objected that he could not challenge the accuracy of such information through the officer. R,1299,1300. Even though the Court told the prosecution to limit testimony to the officer's knowledge, R,1299, Officer Falk testified that Appellant snatched the elderly victim's purse, knocked her down so that she required hospitalization, was chased by bystanders and took out a knife when

cornered by them, and was apprehended after jumping in a canal. R,1298-1300.

Sherry Downing testified that Appellant was a loving father, good husband and faithful and caring friend. R,1305. Downing stated Appellant helped her with a lot of her problems, even from jail. R,1306,1307-1308. Kevin Chermark, his 15 year old stepson, testified that Appellant had "been like a real father" to him and his younger sister. R,1310-1311. Chermark described Appellant as a "great dad", a loving husband who did not fight with his mother, and a hard-working man who worked two jobs to support his family. R,1371,1372.

Appellant's father, Charles Pangburn testified that Appellant's mother kidnapped Appellant and his brother from the father's custody in Illinois, and took them to New York. R,1314. Pangburn described Appellant's mother as a prostitute, and an abuser of drugs and alcohol, and that this lead to his filing for divorce. R,1315. Pangburn was told by Appellant, Michael Pangburn and their mother that the boys' stepfather, Mike Russo was "pretty abusive" towards them. R,1317,1318.

Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield testified as an expert psychologist, based on her interview with Appellant and his father, test results and examination of records. R,1324,1325. Garfield stated that based on psychological survey results, Appellant suffered from drug abuse, an unsettled and abusive love life, and held "a great deal of hostility and resentment". R,1327. She learned that Appellant's parents divorced when he was 3, and his mother took him

to New York. R,1328. Appellant's mother was a prostitute, and had some drug abuse problems when Appellant was a boy. R,1328. Appellant recounted substantial and severe physical and emotional abuse of Appellant by his stepfather, including name calling and physical beatings. R,1328,1329,1331,1332. Garfield also learned Appellant began taking marijuana and alcohol when 12 years old, and was a "frequent" and "heavy" user by age 17 or 18, when he took downers, PCP and quaaludes. R,1331.

Appellant painfully recalled to her the humiliation of being ashamed of bruises from his stepfather's physical abuse. R,1328-1329. Appellant was a chronic runaway. R,1329. concluded that Appellant appeared to have adjusted in jail and would be likely to function well within the structured jail environment. R,1334,1335. Garfield described Appellant as a "very angry young man". R,1340. Garfield also related that Appellant and his brother had been placed in separate foster care, even though only 15 months apart in age. R,1338-1339. The psychologist concluded that Appellant could not have grown up any differently, given this abusive background and that he "didn't have a chance at all" in light of this environment. R,1335. Sheila Cutter testified that Appellant had been a trustee at the county jail and could be trusted within the jail. R,1345-1346.

Appellant also testified at his sentencing hearing. R,1351-1435. He confirmed the abusive nature of his upbringing and background described by Dr. Garfield. R,1352-1359;1370-1399. Among these descriptions, Appellant related substantial physical

abuse family his of the by stepfather. R,1357-1359,1372,1375,1376,1379. Appellant suffered from depression, and would "wet myself" when he knew a beating was "coming". David spoke of his mom being a prostitute, with drug and alcohol problems that made Appellant take her into his Florida home, then required him to kick her out because of her drug abuse and "lifestyle". R,1354,1388,1389,1394,1399. Other references to Appellant's testimony appear in Points XVI and XVII.

In his instructions, Judge Backman did not advise the jury to independently and separately consider and make separate recommendations of penalty for each murder victim. R,1451-1460;1973-1979. The jury's recommendation was for death by a 7-5 vote. R,1470-1471,1980. The jury was not given and did not return separate advisory verdict forms for each of the two victims. R,1981. This was not noted until about a month after the advisory verdict had been rendered. R,1480. A "stipulation" was entered and approved by the Court that the jury's advisory sentence would be regarded as a death recommendation on the Matlawski murder, and life on the Cole homicide. R,1492-1494;1500-1501;2021. Prior to sentencing on March 31, 1993, R,2021-2034, Appellant wrote a letter to Judge Backman, A,1, asking for a new penalty phase proceeding and jury. This request was denied. R,2022.

Following the jury's recommendation, Judge Backman sentenced Appellant to death for the Matlawski homicide. R,2021-2034. In his written sentencing Order, Judge Backman found the existence of aggravating factors that 1) Appellant was "under sentence of

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