FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

FEB 1 1995

CLERK	, SUPPEME COURT
Ву	<u>'</u>
	Priof Deputy Clark

DAVID PANGBURN,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 81,650

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Appellant failed to preserve his arguments below. Regardless, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress. Even if it did not, any error in the admission of Appellant's statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue II - Appellant's conviction for the armed robbery of Diane Matlawski was supported by the evidence. Even though the taking was perpetrated after the murder, the murder and the taking constituted a continuous series of acts. Appellant should not have been sentenced consecutively as a habitual violent felony offender, however, since the robbery occurred in the same criminal episode.

Issue III - Appellant's convictions for the first-degree murder of Diane Matlawski and Nancy Cole are supported by the evidence under either a premeditated or felony murder theory.

Issue IV - Appellant failed to preserve for review any comments made by the prosecutor during her guilt phase closing argument. Regardless, her comments were proper, and even if improper were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue V - The crime scene and autopsy photographs of the victims were properly admitted to help witnesses explain their testimony. Even if improper, however, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VI - Appellant freely, knowingly, and voluntarily waived any objection to the jury's single death recommendation for this double homicide when he stipulated that the single recommendation would relate to Diane Matlawski and that a life recommendation would be presumed for Nancy Cole. Since Appellant failed to allege good cause for withdrawing his waiver, and since Appellant failed

to pursue his withdrawal at the final sentencing hearing, the trial court properly refused to allow it.

Issue VII - Appellant failed to preserve this claim for review. Regardless, the trial court properly allowed the State to impeach Appellant during his cross-examination in the penalty phase regarding the existence of number of his prior convictions.

Issue VIII - The record supports the trial court's finding of the "felony murder" aggravating factor. Even if it does not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different given the three remaining aggravating factors and the unavailing nature of Appellant's mitigation.

Issue IX - The trial court properly rejected Appellant's proposed instruction relating to the "felony murder" aggravating factor. This Court has repeatedly held that this aggravating factor does not constitute an "automatic" aggravator.

Issue X - Appellant's proposed instruction, unaccompanied by any legal argument, did not adequately preserve his argument that the "felony murder" aggravating factor constitutes an "automatic" aggravator. Regardless, this Court has previously rejected this argument.

Issue XI - The record supports the trial court's finding of the HAC aggravating factor. Even if it does not, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different given the three remaining aggravating factors and the unavailing nature of Appellant's mitigation.

Issue XII - Appellant withdrew his proposed HAC instruction. Thus, his argument that the trial court improperly rejected it is disingenuous. Regardless, the trial court was given the amended

HAC instruction previously upheld by this Court.

Issue XIII - Appellant has failed to preserve his argument for appeal. Regardless, this Court has previously upheld the amended HAC instruction that was given in this case.

Issue XIV - Appellant had a fair opportunity to rebut hearsay testimony presented in the penalty phase relating to Appellant's prior violent felony conviction. Moreover, this Court has previously held that the State can present testimony relating to the underlying facts of such an offense. Even were the testimony admitted in error, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different.

Issue XV - Appellant did not preserve his argument for review.

Regardless, the jury did not hear the victim impact evidence, yet returned a recommendation of death, and there is no indication that the trial court relied upon such evidence in imposing sentence.

Issue XVI - Appellant's sentence is not disproportionate.

Issue XVII - The trial court did not err in deciding that the mitigating factors outweighed the aggravating factors.

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS STATEMENTS TO THE POLICE (Restated).

In his three-page motion to suppress, defense counsel alleges without any factual support or legal analysis that Appellant's post-Miranda statements to the police were obtained "in violation of the Defendant's right to counsel, and the Defendant's privilege against self-incrimination," "were not freely and voluntarily given," were obtained "in violation of the defendant's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures," and were "not supported by an independent prima facie proof of the corpus delicti of the crime for which the Defendant is charged." (R 1805-07). At the hearing on Appellant's motion to dismiss, Detective Gucciardo and Lieutenant John Auer testified that they went to the South Florida Reception Correctional Facility in Miami on July 11, 1990, to interview Appellant after his brother's confessions implicated (T 136, 153). Upon arriving at the facility, the Appellant. supervisor, John Culligan, brought Appellant to the cafeteria and then opened an office for the interview. In the officers' presence, Mr. Culligan told Appellant that he did not have to speak to them and could leave at any time. (T 137, 153-54). Appellant indicated that he would speak to the officers, told Mr. Culligan that he could leave, and stated that he had "nothing to hide." (T Both detectives then identified themselves, and Detective Gucciardo read Appellant his rights from a card. question, Appellant responded that he understood his rights. Appellant indicated that he had not "previously requested any law

enforcement officer to allow [him] to speak to an attorney," and agreed to speak to them. (T 138-40, 154).

At that point, Detective Gucciardo told Appellant that they were investigating these murders and that his brother had implicated him. (T 140-41, 155). Appellant sighed, stared at the officers, then lowered his head and said,

[B]ecause of my brother, I really did it this time. I knew what we were doing was wrong but he's my brother. . . .

[H]e could go anytime now because of AIDS. I moved in with him to take care of him, but it was his idea to kill the girls for the car. I left my wife and two kids for that. I have been trying to clear myself from the escape. I spent seven years in prison before I escaped and now this. My brother should have kept his mouth shut.

If I tell you guys everything, I know I will be putting myself and my brother in the electric chair for sure. I have nothing else to say. I guess I will see guys you in court.

(T 141, 155-56). When Detective Gucciardo asked Appellant if he would give a taped statement, Appellant said Mr. Culligan told him that he could stop any time, and he left. (T 141-42, 157).

On his own behalf, Appellant testified that he was in the correctional facility relating to his escape charge, which was dropped, and for four burglaries for which he was sentenced to 43 years in prison. (T 169-70). Mr. Culligan told him the detectives were there to see him and that he did not have to speak with them. Appellant agreed to, and Mr. Culligan left. (T 170). Neither officer read him his Miranda rights before questioning him. (T 170). Detective Gucciardo initially asked him if his brother was the father of Appellant's stepson, and then asked him about two women in a Trans Am. Appellant asked if he was a suspect in

anything, and Detective Gucciardo told him that his name kept coming up in their investigation of these murders and that they thought he had information relating to them. One of the officers then said, "[W]e are going to nail your ass to the wall." (T 171). At that point, Appellant left. (T 171). He denied making any of the statements testified to by the officers and denied knowing anything about the murders. (T 172-76).

Contrary to Appellant's testimony, the State argued that Appellant was read his Miranda rights and freely, voluntarily, and knowingly, waived them. A written waiver form was not executed because Appellant stopped the interview and left after making the brief statement. (T 177-78). Defense counsel agreed that it was "a matter of credibility," and argued that the officers' failure to obtain a written waiver or taped statement cast doubt on their version of events. (T 178-82). The trial court took the motion under advisement and issued a written order denying the motion twelve days later. (R 1831; T 182).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to suppress and makes the following arguments in support thereof: (1) Appellant's Fifth Amendment rights were violated because "after Miranda, Appellant said nothing until Gucciardo informed him that he had been fingered as a participant in the murders by his brother[, and thus] Appellant clearly invoked his right to remain silent until that time prohibiting any further interrogation," brief of appellant at 25 (emphasis in original); (2) Appellant's Sixth Amendment rights were violated because "the police never checked to see or insure whether or not Appellant had been appointed counsel or was

represented by counsel on the escape charge as of July 11, 1990," and "did not interview Appellant that day at Appellant's invitation or request," <u>id.</u> at 27; and (3) Appellant's statements were not voluntarily made because (a) they were coerced by the information that Appellant's brother had implicated him, (b) Appellant's statements were not taped even though a tape recorder was available, and Appellant was never asked to sign a written waiver, and (c) no attempt was made to explain or clarify his rights when, "in response to alleged <u>Miranda</u> advisements, Appellant said 'no' to whether he understood he had the right to stop questioning 'at any time and speak to an attorney,'" <u>id.</u> at 27-29.

The record reveals, however, that Appellant did not make any of these arguments below. The only argument made below by defense counsel was that Appellant was not read his Miranda rights, and thus his statements were obtained in violation of his Fifth Amendment rights. In a footnote, Appellant claims that his Sixth Amendment argument "was adequately preserved by Appellant's suppression motion challenging the admission of the statement on Sixth Amendment grounds." Brief of Appellant at 27 n.1. not the case. A conclusory motion which states no factual or legal basis for suppression, but merely claims a violation based on provisions of the state or federal constitution, does not preserve specific arguments made on appeal. See Forrester v. State, 565 So.2d 391, 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (privacy issue raised on appeal was not preserved by conclusory claim that rights guaranteed by Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution, and parallel provision of the Florida Constitution were violated). Thus, merely citing to constitutional provisions and claiming a

violation of them does not satisfy the objective of the contemporaneous objection rule. Since defense counsel did not make any of the arguments at the motion hearing that Appellant makes on appeal, these arguments have not been preserved, and since Appellant does not argue on appeal the only argument made below, he has waived that argument as well. See Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985) ("In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.").

Even if the argument made below could somehow be gleaned from Appellant's arguments on appeal, it is wholly without merit. Defense counsel conceded below that the issue was one of credibility. He argued that Appellant's version of events, i.e., that he was not read his Miranda rights and did not make any statements, was supported by the fact that there was no written waiver form and no tape recording of the alleged statement. It is well-established, however, that "in matters of suppression, the trial court sits as both trier of fact and of law, and that matters pertaining to the credibility of witnesses and the weight of the evidence are exclusively within its province." Davis v. State, 606 So.2d 460, 463 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Moreover, "the trial court's order comes to this court clothed with a presumption of correctness." Id. Assuming Appellant has renewed this argument,

he has failed to overcome the presumption.

The trial court's obvious determination that Appellant was read his rights and voluntarily waived them is supported by the Both Detective Gucciardo and Lieutenant Auer testified that Appellant was read his rights and affirmatively responded that he understood them and agreed to speak to them. After informing Appellant that they were there because his brother had implicated him in the murders, Appellant voluntarily made the statements recounted by the officers. That Appellant fully understood his rights is proven by the fact that Appellant terminated the interview and left the room, knowing that any further statements would put himself and his brother in the electric chair. Based on the totality of the testimony, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to suppress. Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990) (evidence supported court's denial of motion to suppress where judge resolved question of credibility in favor of state); Henry v. State, 613 So.2d 429, 431 (Fla. 1992) (trial court properly concluded that defendant made statements knowingly and voluntarily); Brown v. State; 609 So.2d 60 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (evidence supported court's conclusion that there was valid waiver even though evidence was in conflict), rev. <u>denied</u>, 617 So.2d 318 (Fla. 1993).

Were this Court to determine that the arguments Appellant makes here were somehow meaningfully communicated to the trial court, and thus preserved, the State submits that they are equally without merit. Appellant's Fifth Amendment argument is patently absurd. Appellant's silence between the conclusion of his rights and the beginning of Detective Gucciardo's interview does not

constitute an invocation of his right to remain silent. Appellant had just indicated a willingness to speak to them. Obviously, he was waiting to hear what they had to say. Though creative, this argument has no merit. See Brown v. State, 592 So.2d 1243, 1244 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) ("[A]ppellant's non-responsive behavior while being questioned does not constitute an invocation of his right to remain silent. In the absence of some affirmative manifestation of a desire to remain silent, it is presumed that the privilege has not been invoked."); Rodriguez v. State, 559 So.2d 392, 393 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (defendant's response after Miranda warnings that he would speak to police, but that he "really [didn't] have anything to say" did not constitute invocation of right to remain silent).

As for Appellant's Sixth Amendment argument, the record reveals that Detective Gucciardo asked Appellant if he had "previously requested any law enforcement officer to allow [him] to speak to an attorney," and Appellant responded negatively. (T 139-40). Besides, even if he had previously requested or been appointed an attorney on the escape charge, such request or appointment does not preclude questioning regarding the murders.

McNeil v. Wisconsin, 501 U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. 2204, 115 L.Ed.2d 158 (1991); Gore v. State, 599 So.2d 978, 982 (Fla. 1992). Thus, this argument is also without merit.

Finally, Appellant claims that his statements were involuntary because they were coerced by Detective Gucciardo's statement that Appellant's brother had implicated him in the murders. By that time, Appellant had been read his rights and had waived them. Detective Gucciardo did not ask a question; he merely made a statement of fact that Appellant's brother had confessed and

implicated Appellant. Knowing his rights, Appellant could have invoked them right then, but instead he spoke. There was nothing coercive about this encounter.

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